2010

Mark E. Towner v. Michael Ridgway : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4) and § 78A-4-103.(j).

STATUTES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE

Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5(2) (2006)

A person is guilty of stalking who

- (a) intentionally or knowingly engages in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that would cause a reasonable person
 - (i) to fear bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family;
 - or
 - (ii) to suffer emotional distress to himself or a member of his immediate family;
- (b) has knowledge or should have knowledge that the specific person
 - (i) will be placed in reasonable fear of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or
 - (ii) will suffer emotional distress or a member of his immediate family will suffer emotional distress; and
- (c) whose conduct
 - (i) induces fear in the specific person of bodily injury to himself or a member of his immediate family; or

- (ii) causes emotional distress in the specific person or a member of his immediate family.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-3a-101 (2006)

See Addendum 2

Utah Code Ann. §76-1-302 (2006)

- (1) Except as otherwise provided, a prosecution for
 - (b) a misdemeanor other than negligent homicide shall be commenced within two years after it is committed;
- (4) A prosecution is commenced upon:
 - (a) the finding and filing of an indictment by a grand jury;
 - (b) the filing of a complaint or information; or
 - (c) the issuance of a citation.

Utah Code Ann. § 78A-2-223.

- (1) A trial court judge shall decide all matters submitted for final determination within two months of submission, unless circumstances causing the delay are beyond the judge's personal control.
- (2) The Judicial Council shall establish reporting procedures for all matters not decided within two months of final submission.

U.S. Constitution, Amendment I

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of grievances.

U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV, § 1

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. Emphasis added.

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE 1

Whether the District Court committed reversible error in taking subject matter jurisdiction of this case and in granting an injunction to Mr. Towner against Mr. Ridgway, when the petition which initiated the case was neither signed, notarized, verified, nor acknowledged, and which petition failed to meet several other particular requirements stated in Utah Code Annotated § 77-3a-101 (2006).

Standard of Review

“The proper interpretation and application of a statute is a question of law,” which is reviewed for correctness. Ellison v. Stam, 2006 UT App 150, ¶16, 136 P.3d 1242.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case was appealed by Mr. Ridgway for the purpose of remedying numerous fatal errors that Mr. Michael Ridgway believes have been made in the course of the proceedings in this case by the District Court, and by Mr. Mark E. Towner and his wife Mrs. Carrie L. Towner; errors which led to the wrongful imposition of a civil stalking injunction against him, for more than three years. In the spirit of *coram nobis*, Mr. Ridgway seeks to have all proceedings in this case vacated and the case dismissed with prejudice, and since he was never guilty of stalking Mr. Towner, and since Mr. Towner never properly initiated this case, never stated a specific allegation of stalking that meets the statutory requirements for the same, never proved that Mr. Ridgway has ever engaged in stalking; and because the orders of the court, which have wrongfully burdened Mr. Ridgway with the extreme stigma of a stalking injunction, were entered in abject violation of the law, and wrongfully maintained by an abuse of the trial court's authority, abetted by the abuse of process of Mr. Towner and his wife, Mrs. Towner.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION OF THE CASE

Ex Parte Civil Stalking Injunction Signed by Judge Maughan and amended four days later by Judge Sandra Peuler

As of 2006, Utah Code Annotated § 77-3a-101 (2006) granted to any Utah citizen the ability to petition the Utah Courts for an anti-stalking injunction against any other person believed to have engaged in stalking against said citizen, so long as the accused's behavior meets the definition of stalking found in Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5(2) (2006).

On May 8, 2006, Mr. Mark E. Towner, petitioned the Third District Court for an ex parte stalking injunction against Mr. Michael Ridgway. (R. 1-3.). On the same day, the case was assigned to Judge Sandra Peuler, (Id.), and the petition was reviewed by Judge Paul Maughan, who granted an injunction against Mr. Ridgway, acting in the place of Judge Peuler. (R. 19-21.)

Four days later, Judge Peuler would stay a provision of Judge Maughan's injunction which barred Mr. Ridgway from attending any Republican meetings of any kind – under threat of arrest and prosecution for the crimes of stalking and the violation of a stalking injunction, both serious crimes under Utah law – so that Mr. Ridgway could attend the Utah Republican Party State Nominating convention, scheduled for the following day. (R. 36.) Mr. Ridgway was, at the time a delegate to said convention, and a Republican candidate for the US Senate. Republican candidates who fail to receive more than 40 percent of the convention vote are eliminated from contention. (R. 4.) The impossibility of

receiving that percentage of the vote when not present to deliver speeches, on an equal footing with one's opponents, cannot be overstated. (Id.)

Evidentiary Hearing Before Judge Denise Lindberg

On June 14, 2006, the evidentiary hearing requested by Mr. Ridgway (R. 59.) was held by the District Court, (R. 112.), during which Judge Denise Lindberg, acting in the place of Judge Peuler, rejected a motion by Mr. Ridgway to dissolve the injunction, instead, issuing an amended civil stalking injunction that she ruled was to remain in effect for no less than three years from the date of issuance. (R. 92.) The order was signed on July 7, 2010. (R. 94.) However, the alleged "Certificate of Service," (R. 95.) affirming that service of said order was effectuated on Mr. Ridgway, included in the record is clearly invalid, since, if taken at face value, it was completed and signed on June 27, 2006, twelve days before Judge Lindberg signed the injunction, meaning that it could not possibly be a truthful or accurate certification of service of said order to Mr. Ridgway. (Id.)

Further, the case file and the record contain no proof of receipt of service on the part of Mr. Ridgway. (See Record on Appeal from July 7, 2006 to the present.) Under Utah law, it never took effect.

Appeal to the Supreme Court and Its Order on Remand to the District Court

Believing that Judge Lindberg had failed to comply with the law in entering the order against Mr. Ridgway, Mr. Ridgway appealed said order to the Supreme Court, (R. 97-98.), which accepted the appeal and heard the case. (R. 116-126.)

On March 8, 2008, the Supreme Court rendered an opinion resolving some of the issues presented to it, but declining to make a final ruling on Mr. Ridgway's request to vacate the injunction then in force, this due to the failure of Judge Lindberg to enter official findings of fact in support of her order of July 7, 2006. (Id.)

Instead, the Supreme Court remanded the case to the District Court for an entry of findings on each element of the stalking statute. (R. 116-126; 117-138.)

The District Court's Defiance of the Supreme Court's Order

The District Court failed to respond to this order in the two months allowed under law.¹ And in the three years since the Order, not only has the District Court not met its obligation to comply with the Supreme Court's order, but it has taken the extreme action of dismissing the case and declaring the order of the Supreme Court to produce findings of no current effect, effectively exonerating itself from the order. (R. 320-322.)

On December 2, 2009, Mr. Ridgway appealed that final order as well as all previous orders of the District Court. (R. 361-362.) The Supreme Court then transmitted the matter to the Utah Court of Appeals. (R. 389-390.)

¹ Utah Code Ann. § 78A-2-223.

(1) A trial court judge shall decide all matters submitted for final determination within two months of submission, unless circumstances causing the delay are beyond the judge's personal control.

(2) The Judicial Council shall establish reporting procedures for all matters not decided within two months of final submission.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Ridgway described in detail many of the events which preceded the initiation of this case by Mr. Towner, and the events that led up to his first appeal in his opening brief to the Supreme Court. In this brief, he will focus on the facts which are germane to the issue he is raising in this appeal.

On May 8, 2006, Mr. Towner submitted the document which was intended to bring this matter before the court, his so-called "Verified Petition for an ex Parte Injunction." See Addendum 1.

However, in violation of Utah Code Annotated § 77-3a-101 (2006), Mr. Towner failed to submit a *verified* petition in that

- a) He did not sign his initial petition for relief. (R. 3.)
- b) He did not have his petition notarized or authenticated by including a statement placing himself under criminal penalties. (Id.)
- c) He did not include two or more specific allegations of stalking (Id.)
- d) He did not attach corroboration of his allegations of stalking to his petition. (Id.)

On the same day, May 8, 2006, Kathie Campbell, the Court Clerk who received Mr. Towner's petition failed to notice

- a) The absence of a signature. (Id.)
- b) The lack of verification. (Id.)

Ms. Campbell then

- a) Failed to notify Mr. Towner of the insufficiency of his petition (Id.) and, instead,
- b) Entered the case in spite of the petition's fatal defects, (Id.) rather than
 - i) Requiring Mr. Towner to correct the defects, or to withdraw his petition, or to have it stricken for lack of a verified signature. (See Rule 11(a) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.)

On the same day, May 8, 2006, Judge Maughan, acting as a substitute judge for the assigned judge, Judge Peuler, on being improperly presented with Mr. Towner's petition, failed to properly review the petition to ensure that

- a) The petition was signed and verified (R. 19-23.)
- b) The petition met all of the other requirements of the law found in Utah Code Annotated § 77-3a-101 (2006) for the granting of an ex parte stalking injunction, specifically (Id.)
 - i) The requirement that the petition contain two or more specific allegations of stalking, including dates, events and the specific conduct that met the three-part test for stalking found in Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-106.5(2) (2006). (Id.)
 - ii) The requirement that the petition be accompanied by corroborating evidence in support of the specific allegations that should have, but did not, figure in the petition itself. (Id.)

On the same day, May 8, 2006, in reviewing said petition, Judge Maughan failed to exclude from consideration descriptions of conduct on the part of Mr. Ridgway where the only alleged conduct was that Mr. Ridgway made "comments" about Mr. and Mrs. Towner's political performance "as party officers" in the context of public proceedings at various unspecified "Republican events," i.e., in unenumerated meetings of the Utah Republican Party or of the Salt Lake County Republican Party, said "comments" being made exclusively in political settings, and said class of conduct being completely protected, by the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, from civil or criminal prosecution. See Snyder v. Phelps, US Supreme Court, (2011), the syllabus of which is attached as Addendum 3.

On the same day, May 8, 2006, rather than deny Mr. Towner's petition for reasons of legal insufficiency, this on the ground of one or more of the above cited defects in his petition, Judge Maughan granted an ex parte injunction against the Appellant, though clearly the Court completely lacked, and still lacks presently, subject matter jurisdiction over the case. (R. 19-23.)

Exacerbating his error, Judge Maughan included a prohibition against Mr. Ridgway's attendance at a class of events, i.e., "Republican events," in an extremely severe and overreaching (read: unconstitutional) limitation of Mr. Ridgway rights to participate freely in the political process in Utah, especially within the confines of the political party with which he has officially affiliated, this, rather than simply limit Mr. Ridgway's presence at specific, narrowly defined, enumerated locations, as allowed by Utah Code Annotated

§ 77-3a-101 (2006). See unpublished Snyder v. Phelps, 2011, US Supreme Court.

(R. 19-23.)

In a second overreaching imposition, Judge Maughan also banned Mr. Ridgway from the entire campus of the University of Utah, though Mr. Towner did not work at and was not a student at the University of Utah. (Id.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over this case due to Mr. Towner's multiple failures to conform to the requirements of the statute defining when a citizen may petition the court for a civil stalking injunction against another. Said failures are manifest and irremediable. The Court should acknowledge that it never had subject matter jurisdiction over this case, should vacate all orders, rulings, and injunctions, entered to date, and should dismiss the case with prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court erred in taking subject matter jurisdiction of this case, given the multiple fatal defects in Mr. Towner's initial filing, his “Verified Petition for Ex Parte Injunction.”

A. The District Court erred in granting an ex parte stalking injunction in the absence of a properly verified petition requesting such an injunction.

A quick glance at the final page of the foundational document for the case of Towner v. Ridgway, which Mr. Towner captioned “Verified Petition for Ex Parte Stalking

Injunction,” (R. 1-3.), and filed with the District Court on May 8, 2006, (Id.), is all that is necessary to discover that Mr. Towner’s petition was not verified at all. Utah Code Ann. § 77-3a-101(2) clearly requires that a verified petition be filed with the Court before any stalking injunction may issue, and Utah law establishes only two mechanisms for verifying such a petition, when not filed electronically. Option 1) “An affidavit to be used before any court, judge, or officer of this state may be taken before any judge, the clerk of any court, any justice court judge, or any notary public in this state.” See Utah law, § 78B-5-701. Option 2) “[A]n individual may, with like force and effect, provide an unsworn written declaration, subscribed and dated under penalty of this section, in substantially the following form: “I declare (or certify, verify, or state) under criminal penalty of the State of Utah that the foregoing is true and correct. | Executed on (date). | (Signature)”. See Utah law, § 78B-5-705.

Though Mr. Towner captioned his pleading “Verified Petition for Ex Parte Injunction,” (R. 1-3.), he clearly erred in so doing, since his petition contained neither a notarized signature, per § 78B-5-701, nor an acknowledged signature, per § 78B-5-705. In fact, it contains no signature at all, this in violation of Rule 11(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which reads:

“(a)(1) Every pleading, written motion, and other paper shall be signed by at least one attorney of record, or, if the party is not represented, by the party.

(a)(2) A person may sign a paper using any form of signature recognized by law as binding. Unless required by statute, a paper need not be accompanied by affidavit or

have a notarized, verified or acknowledged signature. If a rule requires an affidavit or a notarized, verified or acknowledged signature, the person may submit a declaration pursuant to Utah Code Section 78B-5-705. If a statute requires an affidavit or a notarized, verified or acknowledged signature and the party electronically files the paper, the signature shall be notarized pursuant to Utah Code Section 46-1-16.

“(a)(3) An unsigned paper shall be stricken unless omission of the signature is corrected promptly after being called to the attention of the attorney or party.”

No doubt, Mr. Towner will question why Mr. Ridgway has not brought this fact to his and the Court's attention at an earlier stage in the proceedings. Mr. Ridgway would respond to such a query by pointing out that he just became aware of this defect in the petition in the last days before filing his Opening Brief for his case on appeal, while at the Matheson Courthouse, reviewing the record on appeal (the case file). Mr. Ridgway's shock at this discovery could not be overstated, given all that he has been through in his life as a result of this one defective, dishonest filing, a filing which was not flagged as deficient at any stage of the process by those who should have rejected it, such figures to include the court clerk who accepted this so-called verified petition with no sign of verification, the substitute judge, Paul Maughan, (R. 19-23.), who signed the order issuing the first ex parte injunction in response to this unverified petition, the assigned judge, Judge Peuler, who amended Judge Maughan's order, premised on the foundation of an unverified petition, and even the attorneys at the firm of Snell and Wilmer, who never, in their tenure as

Mr. Ridgway's counsel, ever seemed to have noticed this fundamental and fatal defect.

While the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do give allowances to a filing party to correct such glaring oversights, the obvious premise in such a rule is that no action shall be premised upon said pleading until the missing verification is supplied.

In Bentz v. Judd, 714 N.E.2d 203 (1999), a case where the lower court had dismissed a demand that the court grant an order requiring that a recount be held in an election where the Plaintiff was declared the loser, and where the Defendant had moved for dismissal of the case on the ground of the failure of the petitioner to properly verify his petition before submitting it to the court, the Court ruled:

“Compliance with the verification requirement is necessary to invoke the subject matter jurisdiction of the trial court. State ex rel. Young v. Noble Circuit Court, 263 Ind. 353, 332 N.E.2d 99, 102 (Ind.1975). When the verification requirement is not complied with, the trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Id. As Bentz properly observes, the essential purpose of a verification is that the statements by the petitioner in the petition be made under penalties for perjury, citing Board of Dental Examiners v. Judd, 554 N.E.2d 829, 831 (Ind.Ct.App.1990).”

Absent said compliance in this case, and given the impossibility of correcting said fatal defect at this stage, nearly five years after its submission, and nearly two years after the final injunction would have been deemed, had it ever been valid, to have expired, the Court must acknowledge that all actions taken from the initiation of this case to the present, in the absence of a verified petition, are necessarily and irremediably *null and*

void, and it must vacate all actions of the court in this case, including the injunctions which have wrongfully entered in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Ridgway respectfully requests that the Court:

- I. DECLARE that Mr. Mark E. Towner's "Verified Petition for Ex Parte Injunction" filed on May 8, 2006, for the purpose of obtaining a civil stalking injunction against Mr. Michael Ridgway, was defective:
 - A. Because his petition manifestly was not verified, as Mr. Towner averred, and as required by Utah Code Ann. § 77-3a-101(2), in that it was not signed, and lacked either an officially witnessed signature (notarization), see Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-701, or an acknowledged signature, see section Utah Code Ann. § 78B-5-705, which requires the inclusion of words to the effect that the petitioner affirms the statements therein to be true, and that they are asserted "under penalty of perjury"; and/or
 - B. Because his petition manifestly contained no allegations that met the requirement in § 77-3a-101.(4)(c) that the petitioner must identify "specific events and dates of the actions constituting the alleged stalking"; and/or
 - C. Because his petition manifestly contained no "corroborating evidence of stalking," which met the definition of stalking established by Utah law

section 76-5-106.5(2), and as interpreted by controlling court precedents;
and

- II. STRIKE said petition on the ground of said fatal defects; and
- III. DECLARE that it was error for the District Court to grant an ex parte injunction against Mr. Ridgway, and subsequently, a civil stalking injunction, when no properly verified petition for an ex parte injunction was ever before the Court, and/or when said defective petition failed to include the required supports, establishing at least probable cause for the issuance of an ex parte stalking injunction against Mr. Ridgway; and
- IV. REVERSE the May 8, 2006 ruling of the District Court granting an ex parte injunction against Mr. Ridgway, and
- V. REVERSE the May 12, 2006 ruling of the District Court denying Mr. Ridgway's motion to dissolve the ex parte injunction; and
- VI. REVERSE the July 7, 2006 ruling of the District Court which entered a civil stalking injunction against Mr. Ridgway which was to continue "for no less than three years"; and
- VII. DECLARE VOID and/or VACATE all injunctions entered in the course of this case, in consequence of the Court's ruling to STRIKE the ex parte stalking injunctions; and
- VIII. VACATE the ruling of the District Court denying sanctions for abuse of process by Mr. Towner against Mr. Ridgway; and

- IX. ORDER the District Court to grant a hearing to Mr. Ridgway in which to present a motion for, and evidence in support of a motion for sanctions against Mr. Towner and Mrs. Towner for their apparent abuse of process in the five-years course of this case.
- X. NOTIFY the Supreme Court that Mr. Ridgway's pending appeal before the Supreme Court (Case Number 20060677-CA) may be dismissed because the Court of Appeals has resolved the matter to the satisfaction of Mr. Ridgway, who was the Appellant in that case.
- X1. ORDER the District Court to do due diligence in locating, contacting and making full refunds, with appropriate interest, to any and all persons or firms who have made any payments, purchases, or otherwise paid fees to the Court, in relation to any of the three above cited cases.