2010

Mark E. Towner v. Michael Ridgway : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly ordered a civil stalking injunction against Mr. Ridgway when Mr. Ridgway demonstrated an aggressive course of conduct threatening the Towners and causing them to have a reasonable basis of fear of bodily injury and suffer emotional distress. Although never addressed at the District Court level, Mr. Ridgway now alleges the initial petition for an ex parte civil stalking injunction is void because it was replete with errors and omissions that went unnoticed by the Court Clerk, a District Court Judge, and his own counsel of record. Thus, due to a clerical error, Mr. Ridgway ironically argues the stalking injunction never took effect. Mr. Ridgway fails to note he had actual notice of the petition, and both an emergency hearing by Judge Pueler and an evidentiary hearing in which Judge Lindberg issued the amended stalking injunction. Additionally, Mr. Ridgway had actual notice of the amended stalking injunction through his counsel of record, Mr. Booher, who accepted service on his behalf. Thus, the omissions of the initial petition are not material.

In his brief, Mr. Ridgway failed to raise any other issues on appeal. Thus, the sole issue in this case is whether the unsigned petition for an ex parte civil stalking injunction is void. Further, the Supreme Court ruled the language of the

amended stalking injunction was not a violation of Mr. Ridgway's First Amendment Rights and the sole issue on appeal from the Supreme Court was whether there was sufficient evidence for the District Court to issue the injunction. The Appellant has narrowly defined his single issue on appeal, which is extremely fact sensitive. Unless this Court finds the omissions of the initial petition are not material, the issue cannot be addressed without remanding this case for Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

ARGUMENT

I. Under Utah Law, Mr. Ridgway's Argument Of An Invalid Amended Stalking Injunction Was Not Preserved At The District Court Level.

Although never addressed at the District Court level, Mr. Ridgway now alleges the omitted signatures of the initial petition for an ex parte civil stalking injunction render this case entirely void, thus, he argues, "the stalking injunction never took effect." *See* Br. of App. at 11. In fact, he argues the court erred in even taking subject matter jurisdiction of this case. *Id.*

The doctrine of invited error is applicable to this issue. "But under the doctrine of invited error, we have declined to engage in even plain error review when "counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the [trial] court that he or she had no objection to the [proceedings]." *Tschaggeny v. Milbank Ins. Co.*, 2007 UT 37 ¶ 24, (citing *State v. Hamilton*, 2003 UT 22, ¶ 54, 70 P.3d 111;

accord Pinder, 2005 UT 15, ¶ 62, 114 P.3d. 551; *State v. Geukgeuzian*, 2004 UT 16, ¶ 9, 86 P.3d 742).

In this case, under the doctrine of invited error, the Appellant and his counsel have by both statement and act affirmatively represented to the trial court that he had no objections to the proceedings. Thus, even under a plain error standard of review, Mr. Ridgway's argument cannot prevail.

II. Under Utah Law, A Clerical Error Does Not Void The Amended Stalking Injunction

Mr. Towner's original copy of the verified petition for ex parte injunction, if deemed necessary by this Court, is available in his file and should be admitted under the *Rules of Civil Procedure*, which specifically addresses clerical mistakes and reads:

Clerical mistakes in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders. During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court. *Utah Rules of Civil Procedure*, Rule 60(a).

In this case, on April 5, 2011, Mr. Towner attempted to submit his copy of the Verified Petition For Ex Parte Injunction, which was signed by Judge Maughan; however, this Court declined to offer leave under Rule 60 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure* (dated April 12, 2011), perhaps finding it unnecessary.

Regardless of whether the original signed verified petition for an ex parte injunction was excluded from the court record, Mr. Ridgway expects this court to believe a Court Clerk, who is well trained in rejecting deficiencies, and a District Court Judge, both allowed the issuance of a verified petition for ex parte stalking injunction with glaring omissions. Moreover, Appellant suggests his own counsel failed to notice the fatal defect, which is highly unlikely. In any case, if the Court Clerk failed to file the correct copy of the signed petition, it would amount to nothing more than a ministerial error.

III. Under Utah Law, Mr. Ridgway Had Actual Notice Of The Amended Stalking Injunction.

Mr. Ridgway had actual notice of the verified petition for ex parte stalking injunction as he was granted both an emergency hearing and an evidentiary hearing to dismiss the stalking injunction. Moreover, he continued to appeal this case to the Supreme Court. He also had actual notice through his attorney of record, Mr. Booher, who accepted service on his behalf while he remained his counsel of record. Thus, as noted above, the Appellant objected to the issuance of the stalking injunction, but acted affirmatively in representing to the trial court that he had no objections to the legal proceedings. In short, Mr. Ridgway had actual notice of the Petition for a civil ex parte stalking injunction.

IV. Under Utah Law, The Remaining Issues In This Case May Not Be Answered Without The Submission Of Findings Of Fact And Conclusion Of Law.

Appellee notes, the solitary issue before this Court, is whether the District Court committed reversible error in taking subject matter jurisdiction and granting the stalking injunction against Mr. Ridgway, when the petition on record, which initiated the case, does not meet the particular requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 77-3a-101 (2006). Appellee argues the initial petition was sufficient; however, for reasons beyond the control of the Appellee, the Court does not have the correct copy of the verified petition for a civil ex parte stalking injunction. Therefore, if this Court finds the correct signed copy of the verified petition material, the case must be remanded for the District Court to admit the correct evidence. Further, if the signed petition is material, without the Findings Of Fact the issue cannot be reached.

The Utah Supreme Court addressed the issue of a court's findings of fact in *Chen v. Stewart*, finding "A trial court's findings of fact will not be set aside unless clearly erroneous." 100 P.3d 1177, 1184 (Utah 2004) (citing *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994.) "In order to establish that a particular finding of fact is clearly erroneous, "[a]n appellant must marshal the evidence in support of the findings and then demonstrate that despite this evidence, the trial court's

findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence." *Id.* (citing *In re Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989) (internal quotations omitted). "If the application of the standard is extremely fact sensitive, then the reviewing court should generally give the trial court considerable discretion in determining whether the facts of a particular case come within the established rule of law." *Id.* (citing *Beesley*, 883 P.2d at 1347-48).

The record does not contain Findings of Facts. Thus, if the Court finds the omission of signatures in the Court's copy of the signed petition for a civil ex parte stalking injunction is more than a clerical error, or that Mr. Ridgway's argument is not moot under the doctrine of invited error, then the Findings of Fact may become essential in resolving the fact based question of whether the petition for an ex parte civil stalking injunction was valid.

CONCLUSION